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ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of the Kissel Kar Klub for 1993 was held
August 14th at the Hartford Auto Museum. It was attended by club
members from Wisconsin and Illinois, primarily. Our guest speaker
was Mr. Matt Joseph who has held several positions on the board,
including president, of the Society of Automotive Historians, both
the National and the State organizations. Mr. Joseph spoke for
approximately one half hour discussing Lhe affect that the automobile
has had throughout the hustory of the United States and the world as a
whole. It was an extremely interesting perspective to be thought about,
As you know, the Annual Meesting coincided with our 'Car Sale' which
also was quite successful considering that it was the first time we had
ever attempted this type of activity. There are so many car shows that
we felt the ‘Car Sale' would be an appropriate change. This seems to
be a correct conclusion. I hope that next year more of you will be able
to attend the annual gathering. It is scheduled for August 13, 1994.

OLDER KISSELS

A very big ‘inank You' goes out Lo Beb Leu and Earl Young. Bob
will be bringing his 1918 Kissel back to the museum for display. Earl
has just brought his 1914 Kissel Touring car back. This is a response
from my plea in 'the last newsletter indicating ‘that the museum was
looking for a few more older Kissels. The museum still has room for
more Kissels and I would appreciate seeing more,

LEVER ENGINE

As some of you may or may nobt be aware, A. C. Powell Company of
Illinois had done some experimenting with a Lever engine. Reprinted
with this newsletter is an article wriltten on that subject matter. At
the present time, Cthe only known existing Lever engine is at Kissel Kar
Klub member, Gene Husting's ‘home in Long Island. He would like to see
the engine placed here at Hartford and we are making attempts now to move
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it to our location. In addition, Art Spanjar purchased a Kissel that
the Powell Company had modified to accept their Lever engine, Now,

this was done in the early 1930's. The party that had it prior to
Spanjar was in the process of restoring it back to a Kissel White Eagle.

MUOSE UM NEWS

NASH ROOM

Well, it took some doing but the Nash Room was finally opened on
September 25, 1993, At the present time there are 11 Nashes on dis-
play along with much memorabilia. As you may recall, the Nash Club
has paid for and has provided the labor to remodel their room. This
will be a long term display and should do well for us.

WISCONSIN CAR PROJECT

The Wisconsin Car Project is sponsored by the Society of Automotive
Historians, the Wisconsin Division. The idea is to publish a book which
will cover all the vehicles that were ever produced in Wisconsin. We
are pleased to have Dr. val Quandt as a member of the committee that will
be writing this publication. This will take several years of collection
and writing. The side effect of the whole operation will be that the
museum will become the depository for all of the Wisconsin automobile
manufacturers' information.

DONATTONS

Donations of appreciated property are now a part of the permanent
(if there is such a thing) tax laws. S0, the donation of appreciated
property can be made to organizations such as the Hartford Auto Museum
and will be deductible for most donors. I would like to take this op-
portunity to suggést that before the year is over, that you consider

making a donation of cash or artifacts to the Hartford Museum. Your
donation will ensure that the museum remains operational and that,
more importantly, it remains as an independent public museum. As
you know the Kissel Kar Klub expenses are borne by the museum. A
donation made to either one will help offset operational costs.

Best of the Holiday Season to You!
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The Powell Leverage Principle

By Karl S. Zahm

The Greek physicisl, mathematician, and inventot Archi-
medes discovered the principle of the lever in 200 B.C.
Nearly 2000 years laler, a southern minister and sometime
linkerer by the name of Alvah L. Powell used Archimedes’
discovery as the basis for what he believed 1o be a revolu-
tionary concepl in lhe design of an Internal combustion en-

gine. Rev. Powell theorized far grealer power could be al- |

lained al lower engine speeds if the usual connecling rod
was allached lo the free end ol a shorl horizontal lever, Ils
opposite end pivoted on.a shafl running lengthwise within

the upper crankcase. Power would be transmilled from the-

lever to the crankshaft by a second bult somewhal shorler
rod atlached midway between the pivot and the piston con-
nection. The thrust or power stroke of the piston would not
only be greatly extended but the output doubled throughout
the enlire RPM range. For every pound of pressure placed
upon the piston two pounds would be exerted upon the
crankshaft, or so "“Powell's Leverage Principle” claimed.
This was lo become an idea upon which Alvah Powell and
a small handful of converts would spend many frustraling
years and nearly $3 million seeking lo convince a skeplical
industry of ils validily.

The early years of the auto induslry were rife with various
schemes for improving upon the horseless carriage's sim-
ple mechanisms. Viewed from today's perspeclives, most
such concepts appear strange and often complex ptoposi-
tions of no real value. Only a few were recognized as being

worthy enough to warrant adoplion and improvement over -

time. |

In the hopes of eliminaling vibration (a common problem
in the auto's infancy) the makers of the 1903 Shelby devised
a one-cylinder engine with two pistons in the same cylinder,
each moving in opposite direclions and activated al the
same precise moment by a single spark between them.
Much the same goal prompted the 1904 Intrepid's single-

cylinder engine, the piston of which had two connecting
rods atlaching it to two separate crankshafts. Among the |

more bizarre was the engine of the 1907 Adams-Farwell. It

featured five widely separated horizonial cylinders boited

together in a circular arrangement around an upright crank-
shafl. In operalion, the entire engine revolved; the crank-
shaflt remained stationary. These curiosities and counlless
others were found wanting in the final analysis and were
soon forgolten. : 1 '
In 1919, Rev. Powell moved to Washinglon, D.C. where
he not only sought patents for his “lever engine” bul also
hoped to secure financial backing for ils development. Il

was by sheer chance thal he and the Rainey brothers—C.F. .

and R.P.—happened lo meel. The Raineys, wealthy Mon-

tana landowners and ranchers wilh interests in several,

olher profilable ventures, were soon persuaded that Pow-

ell's engine was the wave of the future. More importantly, it 5

appeared lo offer greal commercial possibilities despite
the fact thatl not a single protolype had yet been bullt or
tested. Powell's fervenl enthusiasm appareritly was suffi-
cient lo prompt the brothers’ investment in the project. Tha
elder brother, C.F., though lacking an engineering back-
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ground, was nevertheless so convinced of the eventual
success of the idea thal he genl his, son Rexlon to college
to study in'that field. '

The newly incorporaled A. L, Powell Power Co. began late
in 1920 in an unlikely location—Miles Cily, Montana. It
was Lhere thal the first of several patents filed earlier by
Rev. Powell were assigned. The small company soon re-
localed lo the Chicago subutb of Oak Park where an office
and laboralory was eslablished al 246 Lake Street. The
workforce hired to-bring Powell's engine into being was
augmenled by V. J. Swanson, who joined the concern as
chiel engineer in 1922. Swanson was largely responsible
for overseeing conslruction and testing of several four-
cylinder prololypes. As a result of their interposed lever
assemblies, these engines were not only “taller” than con-
ventional types but had nearly double the stroke length. All
displaced 226.20 cubic inches and had a 3" bore and an 8"
slroke. :

Early lesls seemed to confirm Powell's claim for the
Lever engine. Ils chiel advanlage—high power and torque
oulpul at low crankshalt speeds—was obvious and it made
the engine ideal lor cerlain heavy-duly industrial applica-
lions. To that end, the company established a small manu-
facturing plant in Quapaw, Oklahoma in 1923 where im-
proved versions of the initial design and some six-cylinder
types were produced stili later for oillield pumping stalions.
Nearly 30 Lever engines were sold in that area and all were
said to have performed admirably for many years with only
minimal maintenance and al very low operaling cosls.

Executives al the company's home office were hearlened
when resulls of lesls on a Lever engine (performed under
lhe auspices of the SAE) were published in the trade press
late in 1924, A reviewer writing in Automotive Manufacturer
expansively declared the Lever engine “An epoch-making
idea." Motor Transport reporied that the engine was ob-
served lo develop grealer power and at lower RPM than any
conventional engine of the same displacement. American
Automolive Digest called lhe resulls '‘remarkable.” Nol-
wilhslanding these glowing reporls, the early four-cylinder
engines ran roughly al higher RPM. The root cause was
soon lraced to the inherent imbalance of the rod and lever
assemblies. For mosl industrial uses where low speeds
were desirable, high RPM vibralion was not a problem.
Since the company inlended its endines for passenger
cars, high-speed launches, and even aircraflt, considerable
improvements and newer designs were a necessily. The
problem was solved in large measure with the develop-
ment of a new six-cylinder engine. A greal deal of coslly
and time consuming work was undertaken on valve sizes
and openings, combustion chamber design, manifolding,
bearing loads, and rod stresses. It wasn't until 1927 that
the A. L. Powell Power Co. had more or less standardized

‘two L-head six-cylinder engines of 236 and 340 cubic inch

displacement. A third, also an in-line six of nearly 550 cu-
bic inches, was under development for aircrafl use.

Upon Rex Rainey's gradualion from college in 1928, he
joined the company at ils Oak Park laboralories as a dralts-

. man and soon aller was elevaled lo a projecl engineer. By

that time, the two six-cylinder engines, having undergone
exlensive bench lesls, were being readied lor road lesting.
A Sludebaker Big Six was chosen primarily because of its

. high optional rear end ratio of about 3:1. Various olher ra-

lios were also tried to achieve an optimum, balance be-
lween performance and economy. The lypical aulo engine
lurned over about 40 million limes in 14,000 miles, the
Lever engine less than 20 million in the same dislance,
wilh a substanlial reduction in internal wear. It was as if an
overdrive exisled within lhe enginz itself. For those motor-
ists who dreaded lhe necessity ol constant gear change,
{he Lever engine was a Godsend. Its torque plane showed
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less than a 5% variance belween idle and its maximum
crankshaft speed of 2,000 RPM. As a result, an automobile
50 equipped, could easily be driven off lrom rest in high
gear without the usual jerking or stalling.

Road tests in the Studebaker chassis were still undcr-
way in the summer of 1928 when Rex drove to the Travel Air
plant in Wichita, Kansas to assist in the installation of the
Lever engine and lo monitor its performance in one of that
company's biplanes. Flight tests began, and all'went well,
al leasl initially. Disaster struck when one of the engine's
connecling rod and lever assemblies failed. The éngine
cracked and the plane was forced to make an abrupt dead-
slick landing. Regardless of uniformly successful previous
flights, the program was terminated. Powell and his asso-
ciates very likely felt they couldn't afford the adverse publi-
cily that a second failure might bring just at the time when
its automotive program showed such promise.

Several different illustrated pamphlets were published
to promote what the A. L. Powell Power Co. hailed as “The
Power of Destiny." In them, the Lever engine was said lo
offer no less than 26 advantages over all conventional aulo
engines then in use. In addition to its high power output al
low speeds, these brochures listed longer engine life, bet-
ter internal lubrication, faster lame propagation, grealer
component accessibility, quieter operation, lighter weight,
greater pressure continuity, and improved fuel economy
amonag its chief virtues,

sembled" car, lhe Elcar evolved inlo a distinclively differ-
enl and rather attractive automobile by the middle lwen-
ties; undoubledly the main reason lor its conlinued sur-
vival. For 1928, lhe company had launched an ambitious
program consisling of five different Lycoming-powered
models—three straight eights and (wo six-cylinder cars—
on four wheelbases, most offgred in both standard and de-
luxe editions. Despile virtually blanketing the market be-

tween $1,295 and $2,500, sales fell to a new low for the .

year. Clearly headed for trouble, Elcar was ready lo seize
upon any hope, however tenuqus, in an altemp}to slave olf
the inevitable. Linking up with the A. L. Powell Power Co.
was only the first of such efforts.

The two concerns didn't actually merge at that 'point;
they co-existed. The Lever group's manufacturing plant re-
mained in Oklahoma and its home office in Oak Park. The
entire tesling and development program, however, was
transferred lo the Elcar plant which abandbned its Stude-
bakers in favor of various Elcar autlomobiles. In anticipatlion
of an expecled demand for a straight eight, an L-head en-
gine of this type was designed around the Lever principle.
Three were built under contract by Continental Molors,
one of which was installed in a Model 120 Elcar converlible
coupe. The Powell company's test drivers—C. A. Shaller
and later Philip Rinke—werd instructed lo take the car and
wear il out. Over the next 3%z years, this car (later rebodied
as a roadsler) was driven more than 300,000 miles.
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Company olficials trekked from one major aulo and
truck manulacturer ta.another in what was lo be'a vain al-
templt lo solicit their interest and possible commitment.
They needn'l have bothered. Despite the many claims
made for the Lever engine, all turned a deaf ear. Their rea-
sons were varied, bul the main objeclion came down to
money. Powell's engine was seen as unnecessarily compli-
cated and too costly to manufacture. Furthermore, the en-
gine's acknowledged slow speed nalure was perceived as
lacking the kind of sprightly get-up-and-go which the in-
dustry was just then beginning to emphasize. By the late
twenlies, technology had advanced even the most mun-

dane auto engine far beyond its earlier capabilities; lo

gamble upon something as novel as the Lever engine was
regarded as sheer folly. Given short shrift by the volume
producers, Powell looked Instead to the smaller indepen-
dents. In the latter part of 1928, the still hopeful engine
maker managed to align his company with the struggling
Elcar Motor Co. of Elkhart, Indiana.

An oulgrowth of the former Elkhart Carriage & Harness
Manufacturing Co. (Est. 1873), the first cars to bear the
Elcar name showed up in 1915. Although always an "as-

Meanwhile, the situation al the Elcar Motor Co. turned
from bad to worse. The company had reduced ils lineup to
four models for 1929, two of which shared the same eighl-
cylinder engine. Despite a fresh reslyling and a host of new
features introduced earlier that season, sales continued to

decline. Somelhing was clearly needed lo spark a sales re-

surgence. That “somelhing,” management soon conclud-
g '

“ed, was the Lever engine. A crash program was begun with

the intent of offering their Model 96 with the oplion of a six-

" cylinder Lever engine in lieu of.its usual Lycoming eight. The
. alternalive, to be known as the "Elcar Powell Special" would

(apart from its engine and rear-end drive) share all of the
other specifications common lo its sibling. The effort proved
too litlle and far too late. By lhe time the groundwork was
laid, 1929 was practically history and so was the Powell
Special. Forgotten on a dusty shelf was a balch of hastily-
doctored sales folders which briefly described the Model
96's "Elcar Special Powell Lever Slow Speed Motor." All
was not doom and gloom, as both concerns were preparing
two new Lever-powered Elcars for 1930.

Inits _Februar)? issue MoToR reported, "Elcar sprung an
innovalion al the New York Show by announcing two chas-
ses equipped with the Powell Lever Motor.” Of the two—
Models 83 and 85—only an 83 sedan was displayed with
Elcar's other offerings lor 1930. The laller was equipped
wilh the Lever 340 cubic inch; seven main bearing six rated
al 65 horsepower at 1700 RPM. lis maximum torque (235 I1.
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The proposed 1929 Elcar Powell Special,
based on the standard Model 96 shown
here, was publicized but never produced.
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ELCAR-96 FIVE AND SEVEN-PASSENGER FLEETWING SEDAN

Ibs.) was developed at just 600 RPM. The rear-end gearing
had a ratio of 2.1:1. Six body types—three open and three
closed—were available on Elcar's “shockless" 123" wheel-
base chassis. The Model 83, lo be a slighlly smaller com-
panion car, would offer a 236 cubic inch Lever engine, a dil-
ferential ratlo of 2.4:1, and a 117" wheelbase. Bolh models

would be equipped with 'a four-speed transmission. Al-

Had they done so, they would've been informed of the en-
gine's advantages. Those who sought more technical data
were urged to ask for a copy of the Lever pamphlel wluch
explained the engine's operation in detail.

Some confusion exists as to the Lever company’s exact
corporate name at that time, The sales brochure issued for
the Model 85 spoke of combining Elcar's interests with Lhe
“Lever Motors Corp." The technical pamphlet, issued near-
ly two years earlier, was relabeled "“Elcar-Lever Motors,
Elkhart, Indiana’ even though the company's main office
was slill in Oak Park and its plant in Quapaw. In mid-July, a
news release appeared in Automotive Industries vihich re-
vealed that a merger of the Elcar Motor Co. and the Lever
Molor Corp. of Delaware had taken place. The new concern
was known as “"Lever Motors Corp. of Indiana."” The reason
for this combination was strictly financial ‘as it enabled
both companies to pool their limited funds and made more
money available for their joint effort. The lwo parent firms
would continue to operale as independent divisions of the
new umbrella company for an unspecilied period, Lever's
Quapaw facility was to be closed and its operations moved
to Elkhart.

After the brief initial flurry of interest in lhe Lever-
powered Elcar faded following ils debut in January, noth-
ing more was heard about these Elcar-Lever automobiles.
Marketing any new car has always been an expensive pro-
position. For any as unconventional as these hybrids, the

L3
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though prices weren't available for either model at that
time, the company claimed they would be announced at a
later date. Intereslingly, MoToR also staled thal it had
“been unable to discover why the Powell Lever Molor offers
any notable advantages bver conventional engines of the
‘'same piston displacement.”" MoToR's editors apparently
hadn't read the sales folder handed out during the show.

expense was clearly far greater than the lwo companies’
combined resources could handle. Apart from lhe proto-
lype, only two addilional Model B5s were built and none
reached buyers. Ils intended companion (Model B3) was
abruptly cancelled; not one was ever produced. The Elcar
division had ils own problems—sales of ils 1930 standard
models were less than 900 unils by mid-Augusl, far less
than necessary lo assure ils continued solvency. Fruslrat-
ed by what it saw as Elcar's seemingly imminenl collapse
and the tolal failure of their shared venture, the Lever group
pulled up stakes by year's end and moved to a new location
in Wheaton, lllinois. There, again billed as the A. L. Powell
Power Co., several new engine designs were in progress.
Alvah L. Powell's sudden and untimely death early in 1931
only added to the company's woes. Despite the company's
inability to bring the Lever englne into popular use during
their invelvement with Elcar, the Raineys and olher stock-
holders remained convinced of ils value. Determined to
turn maltters around, a new generalion straighl eight Lever
engine design was on the drawing boards.

In September, 1932, the Hartford, Wisconsin-based Kis-
sel Molor Car Co. was reorganized as Kissel Industries.
The company traced its start as'an automaker back to 1906.
It entered recelvership in the fall of 1930 and was declared
bankrupt several months later. The remnants of the defunct
company existed in a state of limbo for nearly two years be-
forg members of the founding Kissel family regained control
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More Lever-Elcars that never
went into production as
depicted on a 1929

sales folder.
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of its remaining physical assets. To survive and prosper,
Kissel Industries leased portions of its idled factory and
actively sought sub-contract work for its greatly-reduced
labor force of skilled machinists and other craftsmen.
During the latter part of 1932, the A. L. Powell Power Co.

.approached George A. Kissel to seek his company's assis-

tance in building several in-line, eight-cylinder, Lever-type
engines. When the details were worked out, Rexton Rainey,
together with some of the Powell company’s experimental
operations group, moved to Hartford, Soon after, Philip
Rinke drove'the Lever-powered Elcar roadster to the Kissel
plant where its Continental-built engine was disassembled

-and thoroughly inspected. Although the car had been driven

more than 325,000 miles, virtually no appreciable wear was
noted in the engine. The data obtained would assist Rainey
and his team during the new engine's construction, testing
and adjustment period. A 1929 Kissel 8-95 coupe-roadster
found languishing in the plant was updated and modified
to serve as a rolling test bed for these engines under actual
road conditions.

It may be recalled that the former Kissel Motor Car Co.
had been under contract to New Era Motors in 1930 to
manufacture final drives for the Ruxton automobile and to
assemble as many as 1500 of these front-wheel-drive cars
per year. That never happened. New Era’s Archie M. An-
drews paid Kissel only $100,000 of the $250,000 promised
by their agreement. As a result and unable to fulfill its part
of their contract, the Kissel Motor Car Co. requested re-
ceivership from a friendly creditor:in September, 1930. Only
26 Ruxtons were completed at Hartford before Kissel called
it quits. Left behind were several partially finished sedans.
The discovery of these cars by the Powell group led to a de-
cision to equip one or more of them with the soon-to-be-

- completed Lever engines. It was hoped that the resultant

combination of the Ruxton’s low-slung coachwork together
with the flexible and long-lived Lever engine would serve lo
finally convince a highly doubtful industry of the engine's
superiority.

With the two engines nearing completion, the Powell
team turned their attention to the Lever-Ruxton project.
Herman Palmer, former chief engineer with the Kissel Mo-
tor Car Co., agreed to revise the car's outward appearance.
Its earlier boxiness would be replaced by a sleek new look
featuring a slightly raked windshield and a flared rear deck,
skirted fenders, a double-bead beltline, door-type hood lou-
vers and metal covers for the sidemounted spare wheels.
The Ruxton's distinctive V-shaped radialor, winged mascol,
cat-eye Woodlites and disc wheel covers with large pro-
truding hubcaps were to be retained. A brochure was print-
ed which depicted Palmer's restyled sedan together with a
full description of the new eight-cylinder Lever engine. The
latter, said to be "*a marvelous power unit," was touted as
“The Most Highly Developed Achievement in Automotive
Engineering.” By dynamotor test, the engine developed 110
horsepower @ 2400 RPM. It had a 3" bore, 6" stroke and
displaced 340 cubic inches. According to the brochure, the
engine was reportedly capable of “phenomenal operating
economy."

The hypetbole notwithstanding, the Powell company’s
best laid plans again went awry. No difficulties were en-
countered in the installation of the engine, but Rainey and
his crew were thwarted by the car's high-speed final drive
ratio of 4.25:1. The slow-speed Lever engine required a ratio
of 2.1: 1. The expense involved to produce either a ring gear
small enough or a pinion large enough and yel still fit within
the Ruxton's somewhat complex differential housing was
well beyond the Powell company's means. What funds were
available were barely sufficient to pay Kissel Industries for
the finished engines. The Ruxton hybrid never got beyond
this impasse, and the project was abandoned early in 1934.
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The biggest pipe dieam of all the Powell-powered
cars that never saw production was this proposal
based on a restyled front drive Ruxton sedan.

The value of these two Kissel-built engines was negligi-
ble, neither producing so much as a thin dime's worth of
profit to the beleaguered Powell company. Still, some evi-
dence exists that the Ethyl Corp. had at least a peripheral
interest in the Lever engine at that time. Whether the rea-
son may have stemmed from the slow-burning properties
of that company's leaded fuel andlor the increased “push”
made possible in combination with the Lever's long-stroke
engine is unknown. Noted historian Keith Marvin eligited
this response in 1965 to an inquiry from an Ethyl spokes-
man, “The A. L. Powell Power Co., (were) holders of some
mechanically worthless patents on the Lever engine. This
was an ordinary L-head'straight eight to which a trick
change had been made . . . essentially a bit of *bootstrap”
engineering to boost performance by mechanical leverage
as reflected by the claimed 110 horsepower at only 2400
RPM." Whether Ethyl's inlerest was solely academic or
perhaps more involved, it's obvious from their response
thal it later sought lo distance itself from the entire affair.
Frustrated by its on-going inability to gain even limited ac-
Ceptance by the aulo industry, the Powell company re-
turned to the industrial and stationary engine field.

After that, little more was heard from the Powell con-
cern. Rexton Rainey, already having devoted far too much
time to what was clearly a hopeless cause, left the com-
pany for more rewarding and lucrative employment else-
where. His successor, C. C. Chronic, together with the few
supporlers remaining, labored to develop a marketable
two-cycle supercharged engine for the trade. Although the
initial design showed some promise, the effort finally tailed
off in the late forties. There was no longer any reason to
continue, and the elder Rainey brother ruefully folded the
company in 1950. For a brief moment near the end, il ap-
peared that the Borg-Warner Corp. was interested in the
concept. Their only intent, however, was to purchase the
company's dynamotor and Lever engine prime mover. The
remaining machinery and .equipment was hauled to New-
ton, Illinois by long-term employee C. A. Shaffer where it
was put into storage and eventually scrapped several years
later.

The Lever engine story would likely have ended there
were it not for the tenacity of C. C. Chronic, who vowed to
continue the cause despite the Powell company’s closure.
Aided by Shaffer, Chroni¢ established his namesake com-
pany in Addison, lllinois late in 1950 to convert the last in-
dustrial engine design to diesel form. Two or three super-
charged two-cylinder diesels were built, each with over-
head inlet valves, reduced angularity of the piston rods, im-
proved engine scavenging and equalized bearing pressures.
By altering the position of the fulcrum and shortening the
lever substantially, Alvah Powell's original two-lo-one power
ratio was reduced. As a resull, the reason for the interposed
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lever was no longer relevant, Like his predecessors, Chronic
was apparently too committed and too close to the basic
concept to accept the fact that the engine's complexity
and high cost of manufacture far outweighed any possible
advantage over the competition. In all probability, this was
one of the principle reasons why the Lever-Diesel failed to
gain acceptance. Underfunded and existing on a shoestring,
the Chronic Co. failed after only a few short years.
Retrospectively, the failure of the Lever engine to gain
even a modest toehold within the auto industry during the
thirties was as much the result of the nation's deepening
economic depression as it was due to the inherent draw-
backs of the engine itself. Had the Lever engine made its
debut a decade earlier, in 1914 when slow-speed, high-
torque engines held sway, the result might well have been
much different. The Lever story illustrates the extent to
which its adherents were willing to go to advance their
dream in the face of overwhelming resistance. Having com-
mitted themselves complelely to Alvah Powell's lever prin-
ciple, the proponents totally overlooked the fact thal this
novel approach alone wasn't everything. The conventional
automobile engine, though by no means technically super-
ior, was adequate for most purposes, simpler, far cheaper
to manufacture and much more practical for its time.
Virtually nothing remains to show what was once balieved
by some as a revolutionary concept in automotive engines.
Philip Rinke was given title o the eight-cylinder Lever-
powered Elcar roadster in 1934 and took the car to his
home near Pewaukee, Wisconsin. There, parked outside
and exposed lo the elements for nearly forty years, the car
was reduced to little more than an engine block and a few
rusty body panels. Its remains were eventually acquired by
the Harrah Collection which intended a full restoration of
this historically significant automobile. That never hap-
pened, and the present whereabouts of the Elcar-Lever is un-
known. Rinke also acquired (He two remaining Continental-
built eight-cylinder Lever engines from the Warshawsky
company in Chicago sometime after WWII. These engines,
still in their original packing crates, were all but forgotten
in.a shed on Rinke's property. The extensively modified
Kissel coupe-roadster used to test the Lever engines in 1933
eventually wound up in the hands of a Maywood, lllinocis
collector and disappeared following his death a few years
ago. All that is known to have survived intact is a lone eight-
cylinder Lever engine currently owned by Kissel historian
E. E. Husting. Although this engine was offered to the Hart-
ford-Heritage Automobile Museum in Hartford, Wisconsin
some lime ago, circumstances prevented its acquisition,
Ralph Jenkins, a salvage yard operator in Newton, Illinois,
owns one of I' ~ lasl two-cylinder Lever-Diesel engines.
Spotted stand.. in an open field in 1975, it's doubtful
whether it can be regarded as anything more than junk.

Bulb Horn July-Sept. 1993 ¥
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